
 

 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA NO. 2013–18 

REGULAR MEETING September 23, 2013 
FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

800 CUSHMAN STREET, FAIRBANKS, ALASKA 

 

PRELIMINARY MEETING 
 

I 6:00 P.M. Work Session – Polaris Building with Marc Marlow 

 
 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 
 
II 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
 
2. INVOCATION 
 
 
3. FLAG SALUTATION 
 
 
4. CITIZENS COMMENTS, oral communications to Council on any item not up for 

Public Hearing.  Testimony is limited to five (5) minutes.  Any person wishing to 
speak needs to complete the register located in the hallway.  Normal standards 
of decorum and courtesy should be observed by all speakers.  Remarks should 
be directed to the City Council as a body rather than to any particular Council 
Member or member of the staff.  In consideration of others, kindly silence all cell 
phone, electronic and messaging devices.  

 
 
5. APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND CONSENT AGENDA 
 

(Approval of Consent Agenda passes all routine items indicated by an asterisk 
(*).  Consent Agenda items are not considered separately unless a Council 
Member so requests.  In the event of such a request, the item is returned to the 
General Agenda). 

 
 
6. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

* Regular Meeting Minutes of July 8, 2013 
  

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 1 of 74



 

Agenda No. 2013–18 September 23, 2013 Page 2 of 3 

7. SPECIAL ORDERS 

 
 
8. MAYOR'S COMMENTS AND REPORT 
 
 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 

* Ordinance No. 5925 – An Ordinance to Amend Fairbanks General Code Section 
86-95(b) Regarding Chauffeur’s License Appeals.  Introduced by Council 
Member Eberhart.  SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING.  

 

 
10. NEW BUSINESS 
 

*a) Ordinance No. 5926 – An Ordinance to Amend Fairbanks General Code 
Sections 2-651 and 2-655 Regarding Budget Preparation and Funding for 
Multiyear Contracts.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth. 

 
*b) Ordinance No. 5927 – An Ordinance Amending Certain Provisions of 

Fairbanks General Code Chapters 14, 46, and 78 in Response to the 
Revision of Minor Offense Rules by the State of Alaska.  Introduced by 
Mayor Cleworth.   

 
*c) Ordinance No. 5928 – An Ordinance to Amend the Fairbanks Landscape 

Ordinances, Codified as Chapter 10, Article XV, Sections 10-435 through 
10-441.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth. 

 
*d) Ordinance No. 5929 – An Ordinance Approving an Amendment to the 

Collective Bargaining Agreement Between the City of Fairbanks and the 
Public Safety Employees Association Local 803 Regarding Emergency 
Dispatchers.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 
 
11. DISCUSSION ITEMS (INFORMATION AND REPORT) 
 

Committee Reports 
 
 
12. COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 
 

*a) Re-appointments to the Chena Riverfront Commission 
 
*b) Chena Riverfront Commission Meeting Minutes July 10, 2013 
 
*c) Clay Street Cemetery Commission Meeting Minutes January 25, 2011 to 

date 
 

  

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 2 of 74



 

Agenda No. 2013–18 September 23, 2013 Page 3 of 3 

 
13. COUNCIL MEMBERS’ COMMENTS 
 
 
14. CITY ATTORNEY’S REPORT 
 
 
15. CITY CLERK’S REPORT 
 

* Approval of Election Judges for the 2013 Municipal Election 
 
 
16. EXECUTIVE SESSION – Labor Contract Negotiations:  AFL-CIO 
 
 
17. ADJOURNMENT 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 3 of 74



 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES, JULY 8, 2013 

FAIRBANKS CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

800 CUSHMAN STREET, FAIRBANKS, ALASKA 

 
 

The City Council convened at 7:00 p.m. on the above date, to conduct a Regular Meeting of the 

Fairbanks City Council at the City Council Chambers, 800 Cushman Street, Fairbanks, Alaska, 

with Mayor Jerry Cleworth presiding and with the following Council Members in attendance: 

 

Council Members Present: Renee Staley, Seat A 

Perry Walley, Seat B 

Bernard Gatewood, Seat C 

Jim Matherly, Seat D 

Lloyd Hilling, Seat E 

John Eberhart, Seat F 

 

Absent: None 

 

Also Present: Pat Cole, Chief of Staff 

Warren Cummings, Fire Chief 

Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

Janey Hovenden, City Clerk 

Tony C. Shumate, Director Personnel/Purchasing/RM 

Pat Smith, Development Manager 

Margarita Bell, Grants Administrator 

Laren Zager, Police Chief 

 

INVOCATION 

 

The Invocation was given by City Clerk Janey Hovenden. 

 

FLAG SALUTATION 

 

Mayor Cleworth led the Flag Salutation. 

 

Mayor Cleworth asked Floyd Terry to come forward to accept a City Proclamation presented by 

Mr. Matherly in Mr. Terry’s honor.   

 

CITIZEN’S COMMENTS 

 

Frank Turney, 329 6th Avenue, Fairbanks – Mr. Turney thanked the Mayor for expediting the 

removal of the falling spruce tree in the Clay Street Cemetery.  He also thanked Public Works 

employees for doing the work.  He thanked Mr. Matherly and Mayor Cleworth for 

acknowledging Floyd Terry with a Proclamation.  Mr. Turney stated that he recently moved to 

6th Avenue and that his new neighbors claim that the City is responsible for some of the 

problems with old, corrugated pipe in the street that causes pipes to freeze in the winter.  He 

requested that the City Engineering Department show residents the original layout and design of 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 4 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 2 of 12 

the pipe system.  He indicated that other streets in the downtown area may have similar 

problems.  Mr. Turney spoke to his comments directed at a specific Council Member at the last 

meeting.  He stated that he does not hate anyone, but quoted Harry Truman:  “If you can’t stand 

the heat, get out of the kitchen.”  Mr. Turney spoke to the tree that recently fell in the Clay Street 

Cemetery and to the gravesites that were near where the tree fell.  He thanked the Public Works 

Department for their expedited service in the removal of the tree.  He stated that the water line 

needs to be put in at the cemetery.   

 

Floyd Terry, PO Box 73514, Fairbanks – Mr. Terry spoke to the homeless youth and adults in 

the Fairbanks area.  He referenced documentation from a 2004 Mayor’s Forum with the three 

local mayors where the issue was discussed.  He also referenced local news articles speaking to 

the topic.  Mr. Terry spoke to the loss of community and stated that he has many different ideas 

on how to bring people together.  He suggested that town meetings be held in Fairbanks and 

urged the Fairbanks community to get back to family values.   

 

Mr. Hilling asked Mr. Terry what a town meeting is.   

 

Mr. Terry explained that town meetings started back in 1998, with the first meeting at City Hall.  

He stated that Buzz Otis was a key player in getting the meetings started.   

 

Thomas Monroe, 609½ Fourth Avenue, #16, Fairbanks – Mr. Monroe spoke to the litter problem 

in Downtown Fairbanks.  He suggested that the City find a way to use community work service 

to clean up the streets and sidewalks.  He stated that he would be willing to do his share of 

cleaning.   

 

Victor Buberge, PO Box 58192, Fairbanks – Mr. Buberge stated that the Fairbanks Daily News 

Miner (FDNM) reported that Alaska has the worst roads in the nation.  He commented that 

Fairbanks may be found to have some of the worst roads in Alaska after more research is done.  

Mr. Buberge suggested that the City slow down on applying for grants for new projects and 

focus on maintenance and repair for existing roadways.  He stated that there are big potholes on 

15
th

 Avenue from Cushman Street to Gillam Way and on Noble Street.  He commented that the 

holes should be repaired before they grow to be bigger problems.  Mr. Buberge spoke to the need 

for public restrooms in the downtown area.  He stated that signage stating “No Public 

Restrooms” should be placed throughout the downtown area if the City is not going to provide 

restroom facilities.   

 

Marylee Bates, 1290 Saint Anton Drive, Fairbanks – Ms. Bates stated that she is the Executive 

Director of Fairbanks Youth Advocates.  She provided the Mayor and Council with an update on 

what has been happening with the program.  She stated that Youth Advocates began serving 

homeless youth last December out of the First Presbyterian Church and commented that there 

have been over 120 different youths pass through the doors since that time.  Ms. Bates stated that 

April peaked at nearly 500 bed nights for the month and commented that a three-month-old baby 

spent the night at the shelter the previous night.  She spoke to what is nationally referred to as 

“the invisible population” but commented that these youth are out there and that the number of 

homeless youth doesn’t seem to be decreasing.  She stated that the Fairbanks Youth Advocates 

supports Hand-carried Resolution No. 4584.  She explained that it is difficult to help kids move 

forward with their lives when the program is limited to overnight stays.   

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 5 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 3 of 12 

 

Mr. Matherly stated that it is wonderful to know that Youth Advocates is helping so many 

youths in the Fairbanks area.  He asked Ms. Bates about the demographics of the youth she sees 

come through the program.   

 

Ms. Bates replied that in June, Youth Advocates helped about 65% boys and 35% girls.  She 

stated that the number of girls has grown since then.  She explained that the primary age group of 

the youths is 17 to 19 years old, with some 13 to 16 year-olds.  Ms. Bates stated that the Youth 

Advocates Program serves youth from age 12 to 21.   

 

Mr. Matherly asked if special measures have to be taken when a very young child comes to the 

shelter.   

 

Ms. Bates stated that Fairbanks Youth Advocates is not yet licensed through the State of Alaska.  

She stated that if her organization saw something or knew something that needed to be reported, 

they would do so.   

 

Mr. Eberhart asked Ms. Bates about the new location of Fairbanks Youth Advocates.  He asked 

what the capacity of the new location would be. 

 

Ms. Bates stated that Resolution No. 4584 proposes the award of a contract for the repairs of the 

building on 10th Avenue where the new location of Fairbanks Youth Advocates will be.  She 

stated that the new location would have 12 bed spaces for youth. 

 

Mr. Eberhart asked when the organization expects to open its doors at the new location.   

 

Ms. Bates replied that the clock already started ticking a couple weeks ago.  She stated that 

everything has started rolling as if the decision to award the contract had been made several 

weeks ago.  She indicated that there has already been a delay and that even if the contractor 

started work the following day, they would likely not open the doors until November.   

 

Mr. Eberhart asked Ms. Bates how a youth may apply to stay at the shelter.   

 

Ms. Bates stated that right now, all youths between the ages of 12 and 21 are being accepted into 

the shelter if they are in need of a safe place to stay.  She expressed hope that Fairbanks Youth 

Advocates could continue to operate the overnight youth shelter at the Presbyterian Church, even 

after the new, full-time facility opens.   

 

Mr. Eberhart asked how long a youth would be permitted to stay at the new shelter. 

 

Ms. Bates replied that length of residency has not yet been determined.  She indicated that 

similar facilities offer 18-month to 3-year stays.  She stated that the length of time will also be 

dependent on the youth.   

 

Mr. Eberhart asked if Clearwater Ministries is still involved with the Fairbanks Youth 

Advocates.   

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 6 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 4 of 12 

Ms. Bates clarified that Clearwater Ministries is the name of the Fairbanks Youth Advocates’ 

501(c)(3).  She stated that her organization changed their name to Fairbanks Youth Advocates 

because they felt it better reflected the focus of the organization.   

 

Mr. Eberhart stated that, in his recollection, there were some requirements from the City in the 

original agreement, such as a guarantee from the Fairbanks Rescue Mission.  He asked if those 

terms are still in place. 

 

Ms. Bates replied affirmatively. 

 

Mr. Hilling asked what the current location of the Fairbanks Youth Advocates is. 

 

Ms. Bates replied that it is at 547 7th Avenue.   

 

Mr. Hilling asked how many youths are allowed in the current facility at one time.   

 

Ms. Bates stated that they can turn youths away if there is not enough space or staff.  She stated 

that there have been up to 21 youths at a time spend the night at the current facility.   

 

Mr. Hilling asked about the sleeping arrangements.  

 

Ms. Bates stated that everyone sleeps in one large room on cots or mats.   

 

Hearing no more requests for public comment, Mayor Cleworth declared Public Testimony 

closed. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND CONSENT AGENDA 

 

Mr. Matherly, seconded by Mr. Gatewood, moved to APPROVE the Agenda and Consent 

Agenda. 

 

Mayor Cleworth pulled Resolution No. 4583 from the Consent Agenda.   

 

Mr. Gatewood, seconded by Mr. Matherly, moved to ADD Resolution No. 4584 to the General 

Agenda.   

 

Mayor Cleworth called for objection and, hearing none, so ORDERED. 

 

A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE THE AGENDA, AS 

AMENDED, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

YEAS:  Gatewood, Walley, Eberhart, Matherly, Staley, Hilling 

NAYS: None 

Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED. 

 

City Clerk Hovenden read the Consent Agenda, as Amended, into the record. 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 7 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 5 of 12 

MAYOR’S COMMENTS AND REPORT 

 

Mayor Cleworth asked Fire Chief Cummings to come forward and provide a staff report on 

local wildfire activity.   

 

Chief Cummings distributed a report on the status of local fires.  He explained that the City of 

Fairbanks has an agreement with the State Department of Forestry and surrounding departments 

to assist with fires when needed.  He stated that the City typically does not get called unless it is 

an emergency.  He provided a brief update on the Stuart Creek 2 fire, the Chena Hot Springs 

Road fire and the Skinny’s fire and explained the details for how the City bills other entities for 

providing supplemental fire services.  He reported that the evacuation order for the fire on Chena 

Hot Springs Road had been lifted.   

 

Mr. Gatewood asked if the bills sent to the Department of Forestry are ever challenged.   

 

Chief Cummings stated that the billings for rental and personnel costs have never been a problem 

because there is plenty of supporting documentation. 

 

Mr. Eberhart asked Chief Cummings who conducts the briefings on the fires.  

 

Chief Cummings replied that many of the local fire chiefs attend the briefings.  He stated that 

there have been daily planning meetings taking place at the Fire Training Center for the Skinny’s 

fire.   

 

Mr. Eberhart asked Chief Cummings under what circumstances the City responds to wildfires 

outside the City. 

 

Chief Cummings replied that in order to respond, the City must receive a request from the 

Department of Forestry or another fire department within the Fairbanks North Star Borough.  He 

clarified that the City does not bill other fire departments for fire services because of mutual aid 

agreements.   

 

Mayor Cleworth stated that the FDNM did a front-page story on the City’s littering offenses.  

He spoke to the complaints the City receives on a regular basis from residents who are upset by 

trash on other properties in their neighborhood.  He stated that the City responds by sending out 

an employee to see if the complaint is warranted.  He explained that if the complaint is justified, 

the City notifies the owner that they must clean their property.  Mayor Cleworth stated that if 

the property owner fails to do so, the City may use its own staff to perform the clean-up and file 

a lien against the property.  He explained that the City also has the right to issue a littering 

citation to the property owner, for which he/she must appear in court.  Mayor Cleworth stated 

that the mandatory appearance is a time-consuming process that doesn’t seem to get good results.  

He stated that Ordinance No. 5921 proposes a change that would make this littering offense a 

fixed dollar amount with an optional court appearance.  He clarified that this type of littering 

offense is different than littering from a vehicle.  Mayor Cleworth thanked the City Clerk’s 

Office for putting together the labor contract packets that were distributed to Council Members.  

He stated that City Code requires contracts to be distributed to Council Members prior to labor 

negotiations and encouraged Members to begin reading through them.  He announced that there 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 8 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 6 of 12 

would be an Executive Session after the next regular meeting to discuss labor contract 

negotiation goals and problems.  Mayor Cleworth addressed Mr. Turney’s testimony regarding 

the old wood stave pipe in the Downtown area.  He explained that even when the City owned the 

water/sewer utility, the portion of pipe between the property and the main line were always 

maintained by the property owner.  He stated that he continues to receive complaints about the 

old water and sewer lines, but indicated that the City does not get involved unless they are 

responsible for a problem.  Mayor Cleworth spoke to Mr. Buberge’s testimony on the quality of 

streets in Alaska.  He stated that due to harsh weather conditions, the life expectancy of roads in 

Alaska is much shorter than those in other parts of the U.S.  He requested that local residents 

contact Public Works to report potholes within the City limits.  He commended Public Works 

crews for doing a great job in road repair and for their quick response time.  Mayor Cleworth, in 

reference to Mr. Monroe’s testimony on littering, explained that clean-up is now a responsibility 

of Downtown property owners since the Clean Team is no longer in operation.  He expressed 

appreciation for Mr. Monroe’s concern.  

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

a) Ordinance No. 5921 – An Ordinance to Amend Fairbanks General Code Sections 46-4 

Penalties and 46-162 Littering to Make Littering a Bail Schedule Offense.  Introduced by 

Mayor Cleworth.  SECOND READING AND PUBLIC HEARING. 

 

Mr. Gatewood, seconded by Ms. Staley, moved to ADOPT Ordinance No. 5921. 

 

Mayor Cleworth called for Public Testimony.   

 

Frank Turney – Mr. Turney recommended that the City place sand buckets throughout the 

Downtown area to prevent the littering of cigarette butts.  He expressed confusion with Section 

46 of the FGC, particularly the portion regarding illegal handbilling.  He asked for clarification 

on the City Code pertaining to handbilling.  He spoke in support of Mr. Monroe’s ideas to clean 

up the Downtown area and spoke out against citizens who do not clean up after their pets. 

 

Victor Buberge – Mr. Buberge stated that he agrees with the Mayor’s stance on littering from a 

vehicle.  He shared a recent, personal experience with an individual littering from a vehicle on 

the Richardson Highway.  He stated that his own vehicle contains a lot of trash but stated that he 

does not litter it on the ground.  He suggested that the City require citizens who litter to perform 

community work service.  He indicated that it would likely embarrass people and make them less 

likely to commit the offense in the future.   

 

Hearing no more requests for public comment, Mayor Cleworth declared Public Testimony 

closed. 

 

Mr. Matherly asked Mayor Cleworth to provide clarification on Section 46-137, Illegal 

Handbilling.   

 

Mayor Cleworth stated that Ordinance No. 5921 does not propose any changes to the section 

pertaining to illegal handbilling.   

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 9 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 7 of 12 

Mr. Walley asked how frequently a person could be fined the $250 for littering under the 

proposed change.   

 

City Attorney Ewers stated that if a person receives a citation for littering and fails to clean up 

the area, they could be fined repeatedly until the area is cleaned.  He stated that if an individual 

refuses to cooperate, the City could then take action under FGC Chapter 66, Solid Waste.   

 

Mr. Hilling spoke to Section 46-162(7).  He asked if a person could be penalized for littering 

upon their own property if such litter is contained.   

 

Mayor Cleworth replied that the type of littering Mr. Hilling is referring to may fall under the 

City’s section of Code for abatements, if the littering is excessive.  He clarified that the section 

of Code being addressed in Ordinance No. 5921 pertains more to trash on property that can be 

blown onto other properties.   

 

Mr. Hilling asked if a person may litter on their own property as long as it does not become a 

public health or safety issue.   

 

Mayor Cleworth replied that that is his understanding of the City Code. 

 

Mr. Hilling pointed out that Section 46-162(7) does not speak to litter that has blown away, but 

addresses litter that accumulates on a premises.  He argued that the subsection may be contrary 

to the City’s abatement Code.  He questioned how Section 46-162(7) may be a definition of 

littering.   

 

City Attorney Ewers explained that subsection 7 simply means that a person who accumulates 

litter on their own property may be penalized if they fail to clean it up within five days of written 

notice to do so from the Department of Public Works.   

 

Mr. Hilling asked why City Code speaks to litter on property if such litter does not disturb 

neighbors and does not cause a health or safety concern.   

 

City Attorney Ewers replied that Section 46-162(7) is not being added to the Code, but has been 

a part of the Code for quite some time.  He clarified that the only reason the subsection is a part 

of the ordinance is because the title of the director of public safety is being changed to the 

director of public works. 

 

Mayor Cleworth explained that the current general practice is to only penalize those property 

owners who have had warranted complaints filed against them for littering.  He stated that the 

City tries not to get involved unless there is a public nuisance.   

 

Mr. Matherly stated that another byproduct of litter may be odor.  He indicated that although 

there may not be trash encroaching onto a neighbor’s property, a foul odor can be just as 

offensive.   

 

Mr. Eberhart pointed out that since Section 46-162(7) references Chapter 66, Solid Waste, the 

two sections must be read together in order to fully understand the intent.   

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 10 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 8 of 12 

 

Ms. Staley asked how the City can file a lien against a property for offenses outlined in Section 

46, but not for non-payment of garbage service.   

 

Mr. Ewers explained that the lien in Section 46 was not part of the court ruling that disallowed 

liens for non-payment of garbage service.   

 

A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO ADOPT ORDINANCE NO. 

5921 AS FOLLOWS: 

 

YEAS:  Walley, Matherly, Gatewood, Hilling, Eberhart, Staley 

NAYS: None 

Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 

Ordinance No. 5921 ADOPTED. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

a) Resolution No. 4583 – A Resolution Awarding a Contract to (Company) for the 

Wickersham Street Improvements Project FB-13-14 in the Amount of $XXX.  (The 

Company and Amount to be determined at bid opening on July 8, 2013).  Introduced by 

Mayor Cleworth. 

 

Mr. Gatewood, seconded by Mr. Matherly, moved to APPROVE Resolution No. 4583. 

 

Mr. Gatewood, seconded by Mr. Matherly, moved to SUBSTITUTE Resolution No. 4583, as 

Amended, for Resolution No. 4583. 

 

NOTE:  The title of Resolution No. 4583, as Amended, is as follows: 

 

A Resolution Awarding a Contract to HC Contractors, Inc. for Wickersham Street Improvements 

Project FB-13-14 in the Amount of $4,175,260.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth.   

 

Mayor Cleworth explained that Resolution No. 4583 served as a place holder to award the 

contract until a contractor could be selected.  He stated that although that method is not 

preferred, it is sometimes necessary since the construction season is so brief in Fairbanks.  He 

commended City staff for collecting the required signatures from property owners in order to get 

all the easements approved.   

 

A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO SUBSTITUTE RESOLUTION 

NO. 4583, AS AMENDED, FOR RESOLUTION NO. 4583 AS FOLLOWS: 

 

YEAS:  Hilling, Eberhart, Walley, Staley, Matherly, Gatewood 

NAYS: None 

Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED. 

 

Mr. Hilling asked what “the successful low and apparent responsive bidder” means in the 

second whereas of Resolution No. 4583, as Amended.   

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 11 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 9 of 12 

 

Purchasing Director, Tony Shumate, stated that there were four other companies who bid on the 

Wickersham Project.  He explained that “low and apparent” is standard language which means 

that the bidder selected has met all the specified requirements in the bid documents.   

 

A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 

NO. 4583, AS AMENDED, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

YEAS:  Staley, Matherly, Gatewood, Hilling, Eberhart, Walley 

NAYS: None 

Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 

Resolution No. 4583, as Amended, APPROVED. 

 

b) Hand-carried Resolution No. 4584 – A Resolution Awarding a Contract to Johnson River 

Enterprises, Inc. for the Fairbanks Youth Advocates Project in the Amount of 

$827,000.00.  Introduced by Mayor Cleworth. 

 

Mr. Matherly, seconded by Ms. Staley, moved to APPROVE Hand-carried Resolution 

No. 4584. 

 

Mayor Cleworth asked Property Manager Pat Smith and Grants Administrator Margarita Bell to 

come forward for a staff report.   

 

Mr. Smith stated that the Fairbanks Youth Advocates Project is something that the City is doing 

on behalf of the non-profit.  He clarified that all costs are covered by a grant and that there will 

be no cost to the City of Fairbanks.  He stated that the City received bid proposals about three 

weeks ago and that a five-member committee made up of both City and Youth Advocates’ 

representatives evaluated the proposals.  Mr. Smith explained that the proposed bids were higher 

than the allotted Community Block Grant funds, which delayed the award process.  He indicated 

that the committee had to look at other sources for funding.   

 

Mr. Gatewood asked if Johnson River Enterprises, Inc. is a local company. 

 

Mr. Smith replied affirmatively.  He stated that the company has a good reputation and has been 

around Fairbanks since the 1980’s.   

 

Mr. Gatewood asked if the total award contract in the title of Resolution No. 4584 is accurate.  

He pointed out that the figure in the title does not match the total of the figures in third and 

fourth whereases.   

 

Mr. Smith explained that the totals in the third and fourth whereases are $20,000 more than the 

award amount because that $20,000 is the total estimated administrative cost to include structural 

and engineering costs.   

 

Ms. Bell stated that the measures that were taken in the original agreement for the project to 

protect the City are still in place.  She stated that even with the increase in grant funding, the City 

holds no additional liability.   

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 12 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 10 of 12 

 

Mayor Cleworth commended Ms. Bell for her work in finding additional grant funding for the 

project.   

 

Mr. Gatewood asked if the change in name from Clearwater Ministries, Inc. to Fairbanks Youth 

Advocates would need to be addressed in the agreement documents.   

 

Ms. Bell explained that an amendment to reflect the change may come forward once the 

$127,000 in additional funding is approved.   

 

Mr. Gatewood asked if the City would need to see something in writing from the Fairbanks 

Rescue Mission in regard to the changes.   

 

Ms. Bell stated that the letter from the Fairbanks Rescue Mission states that they will serve as the 

guarantor regardless of the changes.   

 

A ROLL CALL VOTE WAS TAKEN ON THE MOTION TO APPROVE HAND-CARRIED 

RESOLUTION NO. 4584 AS FOLLOWS: 

 

  YEAS:  Eberhart, Gatewood, Staley, Hilling, Matherly, Walley 

  NAYS: None 

Mayor Cleworth declared the MOTION CARRIED and 

Resolution No. 4584 APPROVED.   

 

COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL 

 

Appointment to the Clay Street Cemetery Commission 

 

 APPROVED on the CONSENT AGENDA.   

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS’ COMMENTS 

 

Mr. Gatewood observed that it is nice when all members of the Council are physically present at 

the meetings.  He spoke in support Mr. Turney’s suggestion of putting sand buckets in the 

Downtown area for cigarette butt disposal.  He wished luck to those running for office in the 

2013 Municipal Election.   

 

Mr. Eberhart expressed condolences for the 19 members of the “Hot Shot” crew that lost their 

lives in the Arizona fire.  He stated that it reinforces the importance of the dangerous jobs that 

public safety employees perform.  He also gave his sympathies to the family of Jay Rydberg, a 

local Fairbanks man perished at sea in the waters near Cuba.  He stated that Mr. Rydberg’s father 

was the City Engineer at one time.  Mr. Eberhart shared that Fort Wainwright is scheduled to 

receive 552 new personnel and spoke to the terrific boost the increase would have on the 

community.  He thanked City Attorney Ewers for his written report and stated that it is very 

helpful.  Mr. Eberhart announced that the next Public Safety Commission Meeting would take 

place on July 9 at 11:30 AM at the Fairbanks Police Department.  He commented on the good 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 13 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 11 of 12 

turnout at Pioneer Park for Independence Day and stated that he is happy to see the Fairbanks 

Youth Advocates Project moving forward.   

 

Mr. Hilling had no comments. 

 

Mayor Cleworth commented on how refreshing it is to see a brief City Attorney report.   

 

Mr. Walley spoke to the idea of sand buckets and stated that they cost about $30 at Arctic Fire 

and Safety.  He commented that businesses could purchase the buckets and possibly use them for 

advertising.  He stated that the same thing could be done with Sani-cans.  Mr. Walley stated that 

one of his favorite activities as a kid was to go roller skating.  He commented that he would like 

to see a roller skating rink open in the Fairbanks area and suggested that Mr. Terry look into 

using the Carlson Center as a venue.   

 

Ms. Staley echoed Mr. Walley’s comments on the opportunity local businesses may have to 

advertise while cleaning up the Downtown area.  She thanked Mr. Walley for attending the last 

Borough Assembly meeting in her absence.  She stated that the next Golden Heart Parking 

hearing will be held at City Hall on July 17, 2013 with the regular board meeting following.   

 

Mayor Cleworth announced that there would be a press conference with the local mayors and 

Mayor Sullivan from Anchorage on July 17 in Council Chambers regarding the relocation of the 

F-16’s from Eielson to Joint Base Elmendorf/Richardson (JBER).  He stated that the press 

conference is the same day as the public hearing for the draft Environmental Impact Statement.  

Mayor Cleworth indicated that Mayor Sullivan has been a supporter of the Interior’s position on 

the F-16 relocation.   

 

Mr. Matherly agreed with Mr. Gatewood’s comments on how nice it is to have the entire 

Council physically present.  In reference to the earlier suggestion to place Sani-cans throughout 

the Downtown area with business logos on them, Mr. Matherly stated that he would rather have 

no public restrooms.  He acknowledged the need for public restroom facilities Downtown, but 

stated that he doesn’t know what the best solution may be.  He expressed his fascination with the 

scoopers out at Harding Lake that assisted with the wildfires and stated that he is happy to hear 

the progress in fighting the local fires.  Mr. Matherly cautioned the public on abiding by speed 

limits in residential areas and obeying the laws when taking part in activities along the Chena 

River.   

 

Mayor Cleworth stated that radar speed signs are budgeted for Sunset Drive and Ivy Drive.  He 

stated that the City will wait to see how the devices work in that area before placing them in 

other neighborhoods.   

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

Mr. Matherly, seconded by Mr. Hilling, moved to ADJOURN the meeting. 

 

Mayor Cleworth called for objection and, hearing none, so ORDERED. 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 14 of 74



 

 

City of Fairbanks NOT A VERBATIM TRANSCRIPT July 8, 2013 

Regular Meeting Minutes  Page 12 of 12 

Mayor Cleworth declared the Meeting adjourned at 8:52 P.M. 

 

 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      JERRY CLEWORTH, MAYOR 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

JANEY HOVENDEN, CMC, CITY CLERK 

 

Transcribed by:  DS 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 15 of 74



      Introduced by: Council Member Eberhart 

         Date: September 9, 2013   

 

ORDINANCE NO. 5925   

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND FAIRBANKS GENERAL CODE SECTION 

86-95(b) REGARDING CHAUFFEUR’S LICENSE APPEALS 

 

 WHEREAS, the Council currently hears appeals of applicants whose application for a 

chauffeur’s license has been denied by the City Clerk; and  

WHEREAS, the Council has in the past waived strict compliance with the provisions of 

FGC Sec. 86-77(a) and granted such appeals; and 

WHEREAS, the Council’s authority in deciding such appeals should be clarified and 

codified,  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 Section 1. That Fairbanks General Code Section 86-95(b) is hereby amended as 

follows [new text in bold/underline font; deleted text in strikethrough font]: 

  

 Sec. 86-95.  Appeals. 

* * * * * 

  (b) The city council may consider appeals of an applicant whose application for 

a chauffeur’s license has been denied by the city clerk.  The city council may, 

for good cause, waive compliance with the requirements of 86-77(a), except 

that tThe city council will not consider an appeal if the reason for the denial is a 

conviction for a sexual offense, for a felony drug offense, for driving while 

intoxicated, or for refusal within the time indicated in section 86-77 or if the 

applicant has more than one conviction for offenses listed in section 86-77(6)(a)-

(g) within the time indicated.   

* * * * * 

Section 2. That the effective date of this ordinance shall be the ____ day of September 2013. 

 

             

      Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 

 

AYES:   

NAYS:  

ABSENT: 

ADOPTED:  

 

ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

             

Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk  Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 16 of 74



      Introduced by: Mayor Cleworth 

         Date: September 23, 2013 

 
ORDINANCE NO. 5926 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND FAIRBANKS GENERAL CODE 

SECTIONS 2-651 AND 2-655 REGARDING BUDGET PREPARATION 

AND FUNDING FOR MULTIYEAR CONTRACTS 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Charter and FGC Sec. 2-651 provide that the mayor must prepare 

and submit to the city council a balanced annual budget estimate; and 

 WHEREAS, Sec. 2-651(a) requires that the mayor’s budget estimate be balanced in a 

manner wherein costs will be funded by current revenues expected to be received by the city in 

the budget calendar year; and  

 WHEREAS, amendment to Sec. 2-651 is needed to clarify what revenues the City can be 

reasonably expected to receive in a calendar year; and 

WHEREAS, current code does not explicitly address future-year funding for multiyear 

contracts; and  

WHEREAS, it is essential that funding sources be identified for multiyear contracts, 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 

 Section 1.  That Fairbanks General Code Section 2-651 Preparation and presentation to 

city council, subsection (a), is hereby amended as follows [new text in bold/underline font; 

deleted text in strikethrough font]: 

  

Sec. 2-651.  Preparation and presentation to city council.   

 

  (a) Pursuant to the Charter, the mayor shall prepare and submit to the city 

council a balanced annual budget estimate and budget message.  The annual 

budget shall be balanced in a manner wherein current costs will be funded by 

current revenues expected to be received by the city in the calendar year.  

Revenues expected to be received cannot include taxes, fees or other sources 

that do not already exist in the code. 
 

*  *  *  *  * 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2.  That Fairbanks General Code Section 2-655 Multiyear contracts is hereby 

amended as follows [new text in bold/underline font; deleted text in strikethrough font]: 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 17 of 74



Ordinance No. 5926 

Page 2 

 

Sec. 2-655.  Multiyear contracts.   

 

  (a) As part of an approved multiyear construction plan, contracts may be entered 

into for procurement of long leadtime items. The amounts of such contracts shall 

not exceed the expenditure amounts in the approved plan. 

 

  (b) All multiyear contracts, including labor contracts, must have 

identifiable funding sources.  The sponsor of the ordinance to approve a 

multiyear contract must identify the funding source for the duration of the 

contract and any general fund balance or savings utilized to fund the 

contract.       

 

 

Section 3.  That the effective date of this ordinance shall be the ___ day of October 2013. 

 

 

             

      Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 

 

 

AYES:   

NAYS:  

ABSENT: 

ADOPTED:  

 

ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

             

Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk  Paul Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 18 of 74



Introduced by:  Mayor Cleworth 

Introduced:  September 23, 2013 
 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 5927 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF FAIRBANKS GENERAL 

CODE CHAPTERS 14, 46, AND 78 IN RESPONSE TO THE REVISION OF MINOR 

OFFENSE RULES BY THE STATE OF ALASKA 

 

 WHEREAS, the State of Alaska adopted new rules regarding minor offenses; and  

 

 WHEREAS, these changes affect various city code provisions dealing with minor 

offenses; and  

 

 WHEREAS, after review by state court officials and by city staff, numerous changes to 

the city’s code provisions dealing with minor offenses are needed,  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 

SECTION 1.  That Fairbanks General Code Section 78-1 State law incorporated is hereby 

amended as follows [new text in underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font]: 

 

Sec. 78-1.  State law incorporated. 
 

  (a) The city incorporates by reference all State of Alaska vehicle and traffic 

laws creating minor offenses, as that term is defined in Minor Offense Rule 2 

of the Alaska Rules of Court,13 AAC 02.005 through 13 AAC 08.220, inclusive 

as if set forth fully in this chapter and AS 28.33.100, AS 28.33.150, AS 

28.35.251, AS 19.10.310, and AS 28.33.130, inclusive as if set forth fully in this 

chapter.   

 

  (b) The penalty for the violation of any state laws and regulations under 

subsection (a) shall be the penalties provided for and set forth in said laws and 

regulations, and/or any pertinent fine/bail schedules. 

 

  (c) Unless another penalty is expressly provided, the penalty for the violation of 

any provision of this chapter shall be the penalties set forth in FGC Section 78-5.    

 

  (d) There shall be imposed, in addition to any fine or other penalty 

prescribed in this chapter, the applicable surcharge as set out in AS 

12.55.039.   

 

  (e) An offense set out in this chapter may not be disposed of without court 

appearance if the offense is in connection with a motor vehicle accident that 

results in the death of a person. 

 

  (f) The scheduled amount of bail or fine for a motor vehicle or traffic 

offense that is committed in a highway work zone or traffic safety corridor, 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 19 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 2 

as those terms are defined under state law, shall be double the amount of the 

bail or fine for the offense if it had not been committed in a highway work 

zone or traffic safety corridor.   

 

  (g) If a person charged with an offense that is amenable to disposition 

without court appearance pursuant to AS 29.25.070 and the Alaska Minor 

Offense Rules appears in court and is found guilty, the penalty imposed for 

the offense may not exceed the fine amount for that offense as provided for in 

this chapter. 

 

SECTION 2.  That Fairbanks General Code Section 78-5 Traffic fine schedule is hereby 

amended as follows [new text in underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font][new and 

existing fines have been arranged in numerical order by section number and renumbered 

accordingly]: 

 

Sec. 78-5.  Traffic fine schedule.    

 

  (a)  Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, the city's traffic fine schedule for 

violations not set forth under section 78-1 shall be as follows:   

 

1. Use of coasters, roller skates and  

  similar devices (Section 78-40) . . . .   40.00 

 

2. Red signal/arrow  

 (Section 78-141) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   200.00  

 

 3. Right-of-way on sidewalks 

  (Section 78-242) . . . . . . . . .     80.00 

 

4. Obedience to school crossing  

  guards (Section 78-243) . . .     80.00 

 

 5. Restricted turn signals (Sec- 

  tion 78-277) . . . . . . . . . . . .     80.00 

 

6. Speeding (Section 78-346(b)) 

 

 - under 20 mph over limit .  . . . . . .     8.00 

      per mile; 

- 20 mph or more over limit  . . . . . .    12.00  

             per mile;  

       no maximum  

 

7. Speed contest (Section 78- 

  347) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  300.00 

 

8. Improper acceleration (Sec- 

 tion 78-348) . . . . . . . . . . . . .    75.00  

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 20 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 3 

9. Safety belt/child restraint  

 (Section 78-349(a)(1)(2))  . . . . . . .   60.00  

 

10. Proper child restraint (Section  

 78-349(b)) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 200.00  

 

11. Parking within a safety zone  

 (Ten feet) (Section 78-381) . . . . .    40.00  

 

12. Parking not to obstruct traffic 

 (Section 78-382) . . . . . . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

13. Parking in alleys (Section  

78-383) .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  . . . .   40.00  

 

14. Parking adjacent to schools  

 (Section 78-384) . . . . . . . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

15. No parking on narrow one-way  

 streets (Section 78-385) . . . . . . .    40.00  

 

16. Standing or parking on one-way 

  roadway (Section 78-386). . . . . .     40.00 

 

17. No stopping, standing, or parking  

 near hazardous or congested places  

 (Section 78-387) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    40.00  

 

 18. Parking during certain hours 

  (Section 78-388) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     40.00 
 

 19. Parking during street cleaning and 

  snow removal (Section 78-389). . . .    60.00 
 

20. Parking prohibited over 24 hours  

 (Section 78-391) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    40.00  

 

22. Parallel parking required (unless 

  otherwise posted)(Section 78-394).   40.00  

 

23. Obedience to angle parking signs 

  or markings (Section 78-395) . . .   40.00  

 

24. Parking of trailers restricted  

 (Section 78-397) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

25. Handicapped parking  

 (Section 78-403) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  125.00 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 21 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 4 

26. Standing in passenger curb  

 loading zone (Section 78-437) . . .    40.00  

 

27. Standing in truck curb loading  

 zone (Section 78-438) . . . . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

28. Stopping, standing and parking  

 of buses (Section 78-440) . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

29. Restricted use of bus and taxicab  

 (Section 78-441) . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

30. Bicycle licenses (Section 78-507).   20.00  

 

31. Driving snow machine on roadway  

 (Section 78-541/13 AAC 02.450(a))  125.00  

 

32. Carrying animals on outside of  

 vehicle (Section 78-573) . . . . . . .    40.00  

 

33. Boarding or alighting from vehicles  

 (Section 78-574) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   40.00  

 

34. Drinking while driving; open  

 container (Section 78-576) . . . . . . .  300.00  

 

35. Avoidance of traffic controlled  

 intersections (Section 78-579) . . . .   80.00  

 

36. Overtaking and passing emer- 

  gency vehicles (no personal 

  injury) (Section 78-617) . . . . . . . 150.00 

 

37. License to be carried and exhibited  

 on demand (Section 78-892) . . . . . .   75.00  

 

Disposition of any of the above-listed offenses may be without court 

appearance pursuant to AS 29.25.070 and the Alaska Minor Offense Rules 

upon payment of the fine amount listed above and payment of the state 

surcharge required by AS 12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  The fines established 

in this fine schedule may not be judicially reduced.   

  

SECTION 3.  That Fairbanks General Code Section 78-76 Penalties is hereby amended as 

follows [new text in underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font]: 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 22 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 5 

Sec. 78-76.  Penalties.  

 

  (a)  Unless another penalty is expressly provided by this chapter, a person 

convicted of violating a provision of this chapter shall be punished by a fine of 

not more than $300.00.   

 

  (b)  Any person convicted of any bicycle violation shall be punished by a fine of 

not more than $100.00.   

 

  (c) Any person who is convicted of violating the following sections shall be 

punished by imprisonment for not more than one year or by a fine of not more 

than $1,000.00 or both: 

 

 (1) Section 78-613, relating to failure to yield to police vehicle. 

 

 (2) Sections 78-614, 615, and 616, relating to leaving the scene of  

  an accident and immediate notice of accident. 

 

 (3) Section 78-617, relating to overtaking and passing emergency 

  vehicles (if personal injury results from violation). 

 

  (d) Any person who is convicted under sections 78-614, 615, or 616 is subject to 

the same potential operator license action by the court as if convicted under AS 

28.35.050, AS 28.35.060, AS 28.35.080.   

 

  (e) Any person who is convicted under section 78-618(a) or (b) shall be 

punished by imprisonment of not more than 60 days or by a fine of not more than 

$600 or by both. 

 

SECTION 4.  That the following Fairbanks General Code Sections or subsections that 

incorporate various Alaska Administrative Code sections by reference are hereby repealed 

because they are redundant in light of the amendment to FGC Sec. 78-1: 

 

Sec. 78-171, 78-206, 78-241, 78-276, 78-311, 78-346(a) [not (b)], 78-381(a) [not 

(b)], 78-506, 78-571, and 78-651.  

 

SECTION 5.  That the following sections of Article XIX, Vehicle Size, Weight and Load 

Restrictions and Routes,  Chapter 78, Fairbanks General Code, are hereby amended and/or 

repealed [for amended sections, new text in underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font]: 

 

Sec. 78-681.  State law adopted.  REPEALED 

 

Sec. 78-682.  Penalties.  REPEALED 

 

Sec. 78-683.  Width of vehicles.  REPEALED 

 

Sec. 78-685.  Height and length of vehicles and loads.  REPEALED 

 

Sec. 78-686.  Special load limits.  REPEALED 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 23 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 6 

 

Sec. 78-687.  Loads on vehicles.  REPEALED 

 

Sec. 78-689.  Allowable gross weights.  REPEALED 

 

Sec. 78-711.  Authorization. 
 

  Overweight permits for the operation of vehicles or combinations conveying 

gross loads in excess of the maximum loadings authorized in this article, may be 

granted by the city engineering department at its discretion, when the applicant is 

unable to reduce the weight of the proposed load sufficiently to meet the 

requirements of state lawsections 78-688 and 78-689.  The city engineer or his 

authorized representative may authorize the movements of overweight vehicles 

and loads which do not impose loads in excess of 25,000 pounds per individual 

axle, or in excess of 42,000 pounds per tandem axle group, or in excess of 600 

pounds per inch of tire width, or in excess of 25 percent greater than the smallest 

load limit posted for the bridges to be crossed by the overweight vehicle.  Prior 

approval by the city engineer will be required for any overlength loads in excess 

of the above limits and will be granted only after a careful analysis of the roadway 

section and bridges involved in the particular movement.  Application for such 

overlength permits shall be submitted to the city engineer at least one week in 

advance of its necessity.  Any expense incurred by the city as a result of failure by 

the applicant to provide the necessary notice shall be borne by the applicant.   

 

Sec. 78-786.  Required. 
 

  (a) The city engineer may at his discretion issue permits for the operation of 

vehicles exceeding the limitations of state lawsections 78-683, 78-685 and 78-

686 when the applicant is unable to reduce the dimensions sufficient to comply 

with such limitations.   

 

*  *  *  *  * 
 

Sec. 78-831.  Load restriction on certain streets. 
 

  The city engineer is authorized to determine and designate those streets or 

highways upon which vehicles of a gross weight permitted by state lawin section 

78-689 would create a hazard or cause undue damage to the roadway and shall 

erect appropriate signs stating the reduced gross weight permitted on such 

designated streets.  When signs are so erected giving notice, no person shall 

disobey the restrictions stated in such signs.   

 

SECTION 6.  That Fairbanks General Code Chapter 46-81 Curfew for minors, subsection (d), is 

hereby amended as follows [new text in underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font]: 

 

 

 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 24 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 7 

Sec. 46-81.  Curfew for minors. 
 

*  *  *  *  * 

 

  (d) A person who violates a provision of this section is guilty of a violation and 

shall be punished by a fine not to exceed $250.00 as set forth in the following 

schedule of fines:  

 

(1) First offense ..... $ 75.00 

(2) Second offense .....   100.00 

(3) Third offense .....   125.00 

(4) Each subsequent violation additional .....     25.00 

 

A person charged with a violation of this section must respond within 30ten days 

of receipt of the citation.  Disposition may be without court appearance pursuant 

to AS 29.25.070 and the Alaska Minor Offense Rulesdistrict court rule 8 upon 

payment of the fine amount listed above and payment of the state surcharge 

required by AS 12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  The fines established in this fine 

schedule may not be judicially reduced.   

 

SECTION 7.  That Fairbanks General Code Chapter 46-82 Misconduct by minors regarding 

tobacco, subsection (b), is hereby amended as follows [new text in underlined bold font, deleted 

text in strikeout font]: 

 

Sec. 46-82.  Misconduct by minors regarding tobacco. 
 

*  *  *  *  * 

  (b) A person who violates a provision of this section is guilty of a violation and 

shall be punished by a fine not to exceed $250.00 as set forth in the following 

schedule of fines:  

 

1. First offense ........$ 75.00  

2. Second offense .....100.00  

3. Third offense ........125.00  

4. Each subsequent ...250.00  

 

A person charged with a violation of this section must respond within 30ten days 

of receipt of the citation.  Disposition may be without court appearance pursuant 

to AS 29.25.070 and the Alaska Minor Offense Rulesdistrict court rule 8 upon 

payment of the fine amount listed above and payment of the state surcharge 

required by AS 12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  The fines established in this fine 

schedule may not be judicially reduced.   

 

SECTION 8.  That Fairbanks General Code Chapter 46-164 Penalty is hereby amended as 

follows [new text in underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font]: 

 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 25 of 74



Ordinance No. 5927 

Page 8 

Sec. 46-164.  Penalty.   
 

  Littering is an offense amenable to disposition without court appearance 

pursuant to AS 29.25.070 and the Alaska Minor Offense Rules upon payment 

and forfeiture of a bail amount of a fine of $250.00 and payment of the state 

surcharge required by AS 12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  This fine may not be 

judicially reduced.   

 

SECTION 9.  That Fairbanks General Code Chapter 14-171 Illegal presence on premises 

involving alcoholic beverages, subsection (b), is hereby amended as follows [new text in 

underlined bold font, deleted text in strikeout font]: 

 

Sec. 14-171.  Illegal presence on premises involving alcoholic beverages. 
 

*  *  *  *  * 

 

  (b) A person who violates this section is guilty of a violation, punishable by a 

maximum fine of $500.00.  This offense is amenable to disposition without court 

appearance pursuant to AS 29.25.070 and the Alaska Minor Offense Rules 

upon payment and forfeiture of a finebail amount of $150.00, plus the surcharge 

imposed by the State of Alaska under AS 12.55.039 and AS 29.25.074.  This fine 

may not be judicially reduced.   

 

 

Section 10.  That the effective date of this Ordinance shall be the ____ day of October 2013. 

 

 

 

             

       Jerry Cleworth, City Mayor 

 

 

AYES:   

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ADOPTED:  

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

       ___________________________ 

Janey Hovenden, City Clerk    Paul J. Ewers, City Attorney 

 
 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 26 of 74



Sponsored by:  Mayor Cleworth  

Introduced: September 23, 2013 
 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 5928 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE FAIRBANKS LANDSCAPE 

ORDINANCES, CODIFIED AS CHAPTER 10, ARTICLE XV, SECTIONS 

10-435 THROUGH 10-441  

 

 WHEREAS, the City’s experience since adoption of the landscaping ordinances suggests 

that ordinances can be simplified without diminishing the positive effects; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the code needs to be updated to reflect the combination of the role of 

Landscape Review Board into the single Landscape Review and Appeals Commission, 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 

SECTION 1.  That Fairbanks General Code Chapter 10, Article XV, Fairbanks Landscape 

Ordinance, is amended as follows [new text is in bold/underlined font; deleted text is in strike 

out font]:     

 

ARTICLE XV. FAIRBANKS LANDSCAPE ORDINANCE 

 

Sec. 10-435. - Purpose. 

 

  The purpose of the Fairbanks Landscape Ordinance is to protect and enhance the 

community's economic and aesthetic resources consistent with the goals of the city's 

governing body thereby promoting the public health, safety and general welfare of the 

citizens and contributing to the quality of life by encouraging a high level of design and 

responsible development in the City of Fairbanks. The purpose of this article is to set 

minimum standards for street parking lot screening, perimeter parking lot screening, 

interior parking lot screening and trash and garbage area screening. 

 

Sec. 10-436.  Scope and applicability 

 

  A. Minimum requirements.  The minimum requirements and standards set forth in 

this section shall apply to all public and private, commercial, industrial, religious, 

educational, institutional and multi family uses that are developed or expanded after 

January 1, 2004. For .the purpose of this section, a building which undergoes a change of 

use as defined by the building code, shall comply with this ordinance. If a building 

covered by this ordinance expands its floor area, compliance with this ordinance is 

required on a pro-rata percentage basis, with a 15% minimum compliance, under the 

alternative design method (FGC 10-438C.3.).  The Fairbanks Landscape Ordinance shall 

apply to the construction of a new parking lot, expansion of an existing parking lot or a 

surface improvement to an existing parking lot. The intent of the landscape ordinance is 

to apply to provided parking, whether required by zoning ordinances, or provided for any 

other reason.  Multiple residential buildings located on one lot shall also comply with all 

provisions of the Landscape Ordinance.  

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 27 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 2 

 

  B. Exemptions 

 

 (1) Property with one, two, and three family dwelling units located 

  on individual lots are exempt from the provisions of the Fairbanks 

  Landscape Ordinance. 

 

 (2) Property of which the principle use is the sale of vehicles is not required to 

  comply with the prescriptive method FGC 10-438C.1. 

 

 (3) Property located within the area specified by Borough Code section 

18.50.060(C)(12) (presently described as: First Avenue to Fifth Avenue, 

Noble Street to Barnette Street, and First Avenue to Third Avenue, 

Barnette Street to Wickersham Street, and as may be subsequently 

expanded), provided that, if a new parking lot is constructed within said 

area, compliance shall be with the alternative design method or the 

professional design method (FGC 10-438C.2. and C.3. The City 

Landscape Manual will provide a map of this region of the City. 

 

  C. Landscape Plan.  Where a landscape plan is required under this section, the plan 

shall include: 

 

1. Plants to be used along with their location.  The common name of each 

plant used; 

2. The number, height and diameter of each plant; 

3. The locations where different plant types will be used; 

4 2. The locations, size and type of vegetation to be preserved in their natural 

state; 

5 3. Location of any retaining walls and fences; 

6 4. Location of existing or proposed utilities and easements of record; 

7 5. Location of all property lines including all streets which border the lot; 

8 6. Location of any existing or proposed structures or parking areas; 

9 7. North arrow and scale; 

10 8. Site drainage and drainage patterns; unless shown on civil drawings 

 

  D. Approved Plant Materials.  The Building Department will publish a 

Landscape Manual, which shall include a list of approved plant and ground cover 

materials,  A list of approved plant and ground cover materials, a map of the area 

described in Section 10-436B.(3), and general landscaping information., will be set out in 

a Landscape Manual. The Manual, which will be revised as needed by the Landscape 

Review and Appeals Commission, will be made available at the Building Department and 

on the Building Department website. 

 

Sec. 10-437. - Definitions. 

 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the 

meanings ascribed to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a 

different meaning:  [Drafter’s note:  definitions in current ordinance are rearranged in 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 28 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 3 

alphabetical order] 

 

Buffer landscape. Buffer landscape is a continuous landscape area which separates and 

partially obstructs the view of two separate zoning districts from one another. Buffer 

landscaping must provide year around screening. Buffer landscaping may include berms 

and, approved decorative fences in conjunction with required trees and shrubs. 

Decorative fences, when used as a buffering element, shall be approved by the landscape 

review board. The decorative fence shall have a minimum height of seven feet. A chain 

link fence does not meet the intent of a decorative fence. 

 

Interior parking lot screening. Interior parking lot screening is landscaping consisting of 

approved trees and shrubs that provide a natural and partial barrier or buffer to break up 

the large interior expanse of the parking lot. Under this definition, interior parking lot 

shall consist of all on-site parking spaces including access roadways and parking aisles; 

interior parking lot screening does not include the first row of street perimeter parking or 

island extensions of street or perimeter landscaping. 

 

Parking lot surface improvement. Existing parking lots which are upgraded with a paved 

or chip and asphalt surface. 

 

Perimeter parking lot screening. Perimeter parking lot screening is landscaping 

consisting of approved trees and shrubs that provide a natural and partial barrier or buffer 

between an interior property line and a parking lot. 

 

Screen. A method of reducing the visual impact of vehicle use areas and garbage 

collection areas. Screens may consist of berms, approved plants, fences, walls or a 

combination thereof. Trash and garbage screens shall be 75 percent opaque. 

 

Street parking lot screening. Street parking lot screening is landscaping consisting of 

approved trees and shrubs that provide a natural and partial barrier or buffer between a 

street or public right-of-way and a parking lot. 

 

Trash and garbage areas. Trash and garbage areas are exterior centralized areas that 

include dumpsters, garbage receptacles, bins and trash cans. 

 

 

Sec. 10-438.  Landscape design standards. 

 

A.  The following areas of a lot shall be developed and maintained in accordance with 

the landscape standards set forth hereinafter: 

 

1. Street parking lot screening; 

2. Perimeter parking lot screening; 

3. Interior parking lot screening; 

4 3. Trash and garbage areas; 

5 4. Buffer landscape (when required). 

 

B. General design standards. 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 29 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 4 

 

1. Plant material shall be true to name, variety and size and shall conform to 

all applicable provisions of the American Standards for Nursery Stock, latest 

edition. 

 

2 1. All plant material shall be healthy, of a suitable type for the site conditions 

being used in and hardy to the projects area.  Specifications will be listed in the 

Landscape Manual. 

 

3. All single stem deciduous trees shall be a minimum of one inch diameter 

measured six inches from the ground level. For multi-stemmed trees each stem 

shall be one inch caliper. 

 

4 3. Evergreen trees shall be a minimum of five feet in height unless specified 

elsewhere in this article. 

 

5 4. Natural vegetation which is sufficient to meet the intent of the standards 

set out in this article may be retained in place of all or part of any required 

landscaping. Existing trees shall be credited toward the landscape requirements on 

a 1:1 basis. 

 

6 5. Shrubs shall be a minimum of 18 inches at planting. 

 

7 . The planting of grass and annual flowers does not constitute landscaping 

in the context of this article. 

 

8 2. Multiple residential dwelling units (apartments and condominiums) with 

fewer than 12 units shall provide landscaping consisting of one approved tree for 

each dwelling unit. If exterior off street parking is provided, the trees shall be 

located and maintained to provide parking lot screening. If parking is provided 

within the building the required trees may be placed anywhere on site. Trash and 

garbage screening is required. 

 

9 3. Storage, warehouse and industrial uses which occupy the major floor area 

of a building need only comply with the street parking lot screening requirements. 

Trash and garbage screening is required. 

 

10 4. Sight triangle areas at street intersections shall be maintained as required 

by Title 18 of the Fairbanks North Star Borough Code of Ordinances and as 

specified in the Landscape Manual. 

 

11 5. All required landscape planting beds shall be protected from vehicular 

damage in accordance with the guidelines as set forth in the Landscape Manual. 

 

12 6. New development which is constructed adjacent to existing registered 

historical structures shall provide buffer landscape in addition to parking lot 

screening regardless of the location of parking spaces. 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 30 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 5 

13 7. Each street or interior lot screening requirement shall be separately 

evaluated. 

 

14 8. Trees and shrubs shall not be planted under or over primary power lines, 

gas lines, communication cables or within water and sewer utility easements 

unless pre-approved in writing by the utility owner. Trees and shrubs shall not be 

planted in a public road right-of-way unless an encroachment permit or letter of 

non objection has been issued by the controlling agency. 

 

15 9. Trash and garbage areas including dumpsters shall be provided with 

approved screening on at least three sides. Screening shall be provided such that 

the trash and garbage areas cannot be viewed from adjacent streets. 

 

16 10. Buffer landscaping shall be provided between a residential zoning district 

and all other zoning districts as defined by title 18 of the Fairbanks North Star 

Borough Code of Ordinances. Buffer landscaping may also be required pursuant 

to conditions set for by a conditional use permit issued by the Fairbanks North 

Star Borough Department of Community Planning. When required, buffer 

landscaping shall be provided between lot lines, and buildings in addition to 

parking lot screening requirements. Required buffer landscaping shall be 

approved by the Landscape Review Board. It is not the intent of this article to 

require buffer landscaping between permitted uses within the same zoning 

district. 

 

17 11. The maximum allowable slope for required planting beds shall not exceed 

3:1. A steeper slope may be approved provided an approved retaining system is 

constructed. The retaining system must provide a slope no greater than 3:1 for the 

entire required width of the tree planting area. (Reference Landscape Manual) 

 

C. Technical design standards.  One of the following three design methods shall be 

used to comply with the Fairbanks Landscape Ordinance.   

 

  1.  Prescriptive design method. Street parking lot screening, perimeter parking lot 

screening, interior parking lot screening and trash area screening shall be provided with 

landscaping as follows: 

 

a.  Street parking lot screening may either be continuous, discontinuous or a 

combination of both.  Street Parking lot screening shall be provided contiguous 

with each common street frontage which abuts a lot. Screening shall be provided 

based on the planting of one deciduous tree or evergreen tree per each 25 lineal 

feet of street frontage or fraction thereof. In addition one approved shrub shall be 

planted for each required tree. Trees and shrubs may be planted anywhere along 

the street frontage provided: a) the total number of required trees and shrubs are 

planted, b) each required tree is provided with a minimum planting bed of 25 

square feet with no dimension less than five feet c) a planting bed consists of at 

least one tree d) the distance between planting beds and open street areas may not 

exceed 90 lineal feet. 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 31 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 6 

b.  Perimeter parking lot screening may be continuous or discontinuous as 

required by this section.  Perimeter parking lot screening shall be provided on the 

basis of planting one deciduous tree or evergreen tree for each 35 lineal feet of 

interior lot frontage or fraction thereof. In addition one approved shrub shall be 

planted for each required tree. Trees and shrubs may be planted anywhere along 

the interior lot line frontage provided: a) the total number of required trees and 

shrubs are planted b) each required tree is provided with a minimum planting bed 

of 25 square feet with no dimension less than five feet c) a planting bed consists 

of at least one tree d) the distance between planting beds and open interior lot 

areas may not exceed 120 lineal feet. 

 

c.  Interior parking lot screening. In addition to the street and perimeter parking 

lot screening requirements, as specified above, interior parking lot screening is 

required and shall apply to all parking lots with more than 75 parking spaces. The 

intent for interior parking lot landscaping is to break up the large interior expanse 

of the parking lot. Interior parking lot landscaping shall be provided with one 

planting bed area for every 25 parking spaces. The minimum planting area shall 

be not less than 80 square feet with no dimension less than eight feet. A minimum 

planting bed shall consist of two trees and one) shrub. Planting beds may be 

consolidated however a minimum of two separate planting beds shall be provided. 

Interior parking lot landscaping may also be provided based on two percent of the 

total area of the parking lot. Planting beds, tree and shrub requirements and 

planting bed geometry shall be as specified above. 

 

d c.  Buffer landscape. When required shall provide year around screening and 

shall consist of the following: A continuous planting bed shall be provided. The 

planting bed width shall be an average of ten feet with a minimum width of not 

less than eight feet. Two rows of trees shall be provided and shall be planted at 

average intervals no greater than ten feet on center. The trees shall have a 

minimum diameter at planting of one and one-half inches in diameter and shall be 

a minimum of eight feet in height. No more than 50 percent of the trees shall be 

deciduous. An approved man made decorative fence may substitute for one row 

of trees and the planting bed maybe reduced to a minimum width of eight feet. 

 

2. Professional Design Method.  A landscape plan, prepared and sealed by a licensed 

landscape architect registered in the State of Alaska, which is equivalent to the 

prescriptive design method described in the Landscape Manual criteria set forth in 

section 10-438(C)(1), shall be considered as meeting the intent of the landscape 

ordinance.  All landscape plans which utilize the professional design method shall be 

reviewed and approved by the Building Department with any appeals going to the 

City of Fairbanks Landscape Review and Appeals Commission, as needed. 

 

3. Alternative Compliance Method.  Alternative plans will be considered because 

of project conditions related to the site, where compliance is impractical, or where 

compliance with the city’s objectives can be achieved by another method.  Project 

conditions associated with individual sites may justify approval of alternative methods of 

compliance with the landscape design requirements.  Conditions may arise where normal 

compliance is impractical or impossible, such as facilities that sell vehicles, or where 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 32 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 7 

maximum achievement of the City’s objectives and goals can only be obtained through 

alternative compliance.  Such landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the 

Building Department with any appeals to the Landscape Review and Appeals 

Commission on a case-by-case basis. 

 

Sec. 10-439.  Plan submittal and inspection requirements. 

 

  A preliminary landscape plan shall be submitted to the building department in 

conjunction with the required building permit application and related construction 

documents.  A final and complete landscape plan shall be submitted to the building 

department for review and approval before the final inspection is conducted.  A 

certificate of occupancy shall not be issued until all landscaping has been completed by 

the contractor or developer and inspected and approved by the building department or 

Landscape Review and Appeals Commission.  In the event landscaping is not completed 

due to planting season restrictions, a temporary certificate may be issued but shall expire 

within one year of such certificate. If a temporary certificate of occupancy is issued, a 

performance bond or suitable guaranty shall be posted with the City of Fairbanks until 

such time as the landscaping is completed and approved.  The amount of the bond or 

guaranty shall be equivalent to one percent of the total cost of the construction project up 

to one million dollars or shall be equal to one-half of one percent of the total construction 

cost if the total construction costs exceed $1,000,000.00. 

  

Sec. 10-440.  Maintenance 

 

It shall be the duty of the owner of the property to maintain all required landscaping as 

required by the Fairbanks Landscape Ordinance. If required landscaping dies, becomes 

damaged or destroyed, re-landscaping of those areas or landscaping elements shall be re-

planted in an approved manner. 

 

Sec. 10-441.  Enforcement, appeals and penalties 

 

1. The City of Fairbanks Building Department in conjunction with the Landscape 

Review and Appeals Commission shall enforce the requirements of this section and shall 

be responsible for performing the necessary inspections to determine if the required 

landscaping has been installed according to the approved landscape design. 

 

2. A Certificate of Occupancy shall not be issued until the landscape requirements 

are met as shown on the approved landscape design plans and given final approval by 

either the building department or Landscape Review and Appeals Commission unless a 

performance bond is secured in the amount of the estimated cost of the landscaping as 

approved by the Landscape Review and Appeals Commission or in accordance with 

section 10-439.  Occupancy of any building prior to the issuance of a temporary or final 

Certificate of Occupancy shall be unlawful. 

 

32. Any applicant denied a building permit or issued a stop work order due to non 

compliance of the landscape ordinance or who wishes to appeal a decision of the building 

official may appeal to the Landscape Review and Appeals Commission.  The appeal shall 

be made in writing and submitted within one week upon rejection from the building 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 33 of 74



Ordinance No. 5928 

Page 8 

official.  If an applicant, owner or developer wishes to appeal a decision of the Landscape 

Review and Appeals Commission, they shall appeal to the City Council acting as a Board 

of Adjustment.  The appeal shall be in writing and fully state the reason or reasons for the 

appeal.  The appeal shall be accompanied by a copy of the landscape design submitted to 

the Landscape Review and Appeals Commission. 

 

SECTION 3.  That the effective date of this Ordinance shall be the ___ day of October, 2013. 

 

 

             

       Jerry Cleworth, City Mayor 

 

AYES:   

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

ADOPTED:  

 

 

ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

 

       ___________________________ 

Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk   Paul J. Ewers, City Attorney 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 34 of 74



      Introduced by: Mayor Cleworth   
     Date: September 23, 2013   

 
ORDINANCE NO. 5929 

 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING AN AMENDMENT TO THE 

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
FAIRBANKS AND THE PUBLIC SAFETY EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION 

LOCAL 803 REGARDING EMERGENCY DISPATCHERS 
 

 WHEREAS, the City and the Public Safety Employees Association Local 803 

have reached agreement on the service of Emergency Dispatchers acting as the 

Dispatch Center Department Head, an issue not covered in the current Collective 

Bargaining Agreement (CBA), 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF FAIRBANKS, ALASKA, as follows:   

 Section 1. The attached Letter of Agreement, effective October 1, 2013, is 
approved.   

 
Section 2. The effective date of this ordinance shall be the __ day of October, 

2013.   
 

             
      Jerry Cleworth, Mayor 
 
 
AYES:   
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  
ADOPTED:  
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
 
             
Janey Hovenden, CMC, City Clerk Paul Ewers, City Attorney 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 35 of 74



Attachment to Ordinance No. 5929 
Page 1 

2013 Letter of Agreement 

 

Between 

 

City of Fairbanks & Public Safety Employee Association 

 

Dispatchers Acting as Dispatch Department Head 

 

 

The parties wish to resolve the issue of Public Safety Dispatchers acting as the Department Head 

of the City Dispatch Center (a/k/a “Fairbanks Emergency Communications Center,” or 

“Center”).  Guidance on this issue is not provided in the current Collective Bargaining 

Agreement.  The parties now agree as follows: 

 

1. When the Department Head is on personal leave and unavailable, one of the Lead 

Dispatchers will be appointed by the Department Head (or, if unavailable, by City Mayor 

or designee) as Acting Department Head.  The added duties of this assignment include 

performance of all duties of the Department Head, including appearance at inter-agency 

meetings and taking responsibility for overall operations of the Center, including staffing 

a dispatch console when needed. 

 

2. During normal work hours, the Acting Dispatch Center Department Head will receive a 

premium equal to 5% of their normal hourly wage (in addition to the shift lead provided 

in the PSEA CBA).  This premium shall be included in calculation of applicable overtime 

at the PSEA CBA rate during periods acting as Dispatch Center Head. 

 

3. In addition, the provisions of Article X, Section 16 regarding standby duty shall apply to 

times when the Acting Dispatch Center Department Head is not on duty but available to 

report to work as needed. 

 

 

This agreement is effective October 1, 2013 

 

 

Public Safety Employee Association    City of Fairbanks 

 

 

 

___________________________    _________________________ 

Title:        Mayor 

 

 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 36 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 37 of 74



 

Fairbanks North Star Borough / City of Fairbanks 
CHENA RIVERFRONT COMMISSION 

MINUTES 
July 10, 2013 

 

 
The Fairbanks North Star Borough/City of Fairbanks Chena Riverfront Commission (CRFC) met on 
Wednesday, July 10, 2013 with Chair Anna Plager presiding. The following Commission members 
were in attendance: Lee Wood, Kelley Hegarty-Lammers, John Jackovich, Susan Rainey, Buki 
Wright and Bob Henszey. 
 
Also present were: Donna Gardino, FMATS; Jackson Fox, City of Fairbanks; Barry Hooper, DOT; 
Christy Everett, TVWA Board President; and Laura McLean, FNSB Recording Clerk. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

Plager called the meeting to order at 12:05p.m.   
 

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  
 
 A motion was made by Rainey, seconded by Henszey to approve the Agenda for    
 July 10, 2013. There were no objections. 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF June 12, 2013 
 
 Plager stated that the first two paragraphs under “Project List Review” were not about the 
 project list and she suggested that a change be made to reflect that they were speaking of the 
 Partnering Project Highlights.  
 
 Hegarty-Lammers questioned what the content of the e-mail message that Plager read from 
 Wilken at last months’ meeting was. Plager explained the content of the e-mail and it was 
 decided that a copy of the e-mail will be attached to the minutes. 
 
 A motion was made by Hegarty-Lammers, seconded by Wright to approve the minutes for 
 June 12, 2013, with the revision mentioned above. There were no objections. 
 
4. COMMUNICATIONS TO THE COMMISSION  
 
 None 
   
5. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
  None 
  
6. NEW BUSINESS 
 
 None 
 
7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
A. Project List Review  
 
  Plager commented that Jones did not have a chance to revise the Project List as she had 
  volunteered to do. Plager commented that she is now available to volunteer to assist with 
  this re-write and will assist Jones with this task.  
 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 38 of 74



Chena Riverfront Commission Minutes   -2-         July 10, 2013 

  Plager suggested that the commission come back to this topic at the end of the meeting, 
  time permitting.  
 
B.  Historical Sign Project Update  
 
  Gardino reported that there are nine signs that are approximately 80% complete. There  
  are a couple of signs that they still need to get language for. All of the signs have been  
  sent to Dermot Cole for his review. They have changed the design of the area where the 
  signs will be located at the Green Space apex. She illustrated on the board what the new 
  design will look like and where the signs will be placed. Wright asked what type of   
  materials the signs will be made of. Gardino replied that the post colors will match the  
  post colors of the Downtown Wayfinding signs and they will be a laminate. Wood   
  suggested that if the CRFC is not able to get a boat for the August meeting, perhaps the 
  commission could take a walking tour from the borough building to the “triangle”, go across 
  the street and inspect the “chute” and then over the walking bridge to Golden Heart Plaza. 
 
  Gardino also added that they are finalizing the foundation contract for the “Polaris” and  
  the artwork is scheduled to be installed by September 2014. 
 
C. Chena Riverwalk Permit Update   
 
  Fox gave a brief update regarding the permit from the Alaska Railroad. He added that they 
  did ask the City of Fairbanks and Festival Fairbanks for a letter of non-objection from DOT 
  where the trail ties into DOT right-of-way on Peger Road and on Phillips Field Road. Fox 
  was able to secure that letter and forward it on to the Railroad. The other item that the  
  Railroad wanted was to convey ownership of the pedestrian bridge near Pioneer Park.  
  Apparently everyone was under the impression that Golden Heart Utilities owned the  
  bridge because their water main is attached to the bridge. In reviewing the property  
  records, the Railroad owns the bridge though the City of Fairbanks designed and built the 
  bridge. A bill of sale has been drafted between the Railroad and the City of Fairbanks  
  conveying ownership to the City for free. The City will enter into a separate maintenance 
  agreement with Golden Heart Utilities for the maintenance of the bridge. Wright asked if 
  there were any other utilities attached to the bridge. Fox indicated that he was not sure if 
  there are any other utilities attached to the underside of the bridge. Fox further stated that 
  the Railroad just sent him the final draft of the permit. It is currently on the July 30th agenda 
  for the Railroad Board meeting. Rainey asked that once the city takes ownership of the  
  bridge, would there be a possibility of some sort of capital campaign to improve the   
  appearance of the bridge. Fox stated that the City of Fairbanks has $400,000 to design  
  the pedestrian path and install new bridges. He felt that in the scope of that work, there is 
  probably room for upgrades to the existing bridge to make it look similar to the new   
  bridges that will be installed. Wood asked who will own the new bridges and Fox   
  responded that he believes that City of Fairbanks will own the new bridges but there will  
  be maintenance agreements with Golden Heart Utilities and/or the Borough. Wood asked 
  if there will be utilities attached to the bridges. Fox replied that there will be a bridge  
  crossing planned near the water treatment plant and that there is an old water main from 
  1972 that is buried under the river. Golden Heart Utilities would like to abandon that main 
  and put a new one under the bridge that is planned at that location. Golden Heart Utilities 
  has offered to help pay for the bridge at that location. The other locations for the foot  
  bridges will be between the borough building and the Elks’ building and also near the  
  Carlson Center. Henszey asked if the bridges could be built to accommodate utilities in  
  the future. Fox added that that is a possibility and will be determined later. There was  
  further discussion regarding a new power plant to be built at the University of Fairbanks  
  and the need for utility service from Golden Heart Utilities. Not much is known at this time 
  whether that will come to fruition or not.  
 

 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 39 of 74



Chena Riverfront Commission Minutes   -3-         July 10, 2013 

  Plager asked what the $400,000 that Fox referenced will be used for. Fox replied  
  that the money will be used for design of the project. He further stated that the intent is 
  that once they have the design money, they plan to start surveying this fall.  
 

  Henszey asked if Fox knew whether or not there is a bald eagle nest in this area. Fox 
  replied that he did not know.  
 

 D.  Chena Riverfront Plan Update 
 
  Hegarty-Lammers commented that she has been keeping notes on suggestions that 
  this commission has relating to goals and objectives. The idea would be to present a 
  track changes copy of the adopted portion of the plan to the rest of the commission for 
  review in a work session. She proposed a time frame of September to do this. Plager 
  asked if the river corridor width will be addressed as well and Hegarty-Lammers stated 
  that the committee will also be addressing the width issue. Wright commented that if 
  Hegarty-Lammers wanted to make changes and then forward track changes to the rest 
  of the committee he is in agreement with that. To the extent that there are any  
  substantive changes, it is his opinion that time may be saved if a smaller group of the 
  commission were to get together to work on it and then bring it back rather than one 
  person doing it. Wood commented that it might be nice to have some public input in 
  this. Hegarty-Lammers added that once a draft plan is created by the commission, 
  then it goes to the public. Jackovich asked what the process was once a draft is  
  created. Hegarty-Lammers responded that once a draft is created, a work session 
  with the City Council and Borough Planning Commission is held with a slide show on 
  progress towards goals & objectives. Then it is presented to the public for comment 
  and after that, it then goes to the Borough Assembly and City Council for adoption of 
  the revisions. Wright asked if the amount of work being created as a result   
  of this project is necessary. Plager responded that it is required to revise the plan  
  every 5 years as part of the Comprehensive Plan. Wood asked what the timeline and 
  deadline dates were. Hegarty-Lammers replied that the deadline is September 2014 
  and the first meeting of the committee will be in September 2013 giving the committee 
  a year to complete this task. Plager commented that she would like to have all of the 
  public meetings done by the end of spring 2014. Hegarty-Lammers suggested that the 
  committee meet on September 10, 2013, prior to the regular CRFC meeting on  
  September 11th. This date was agreed to by all on the committee (and to include  
  Hernandez). Plager suggested that Hegarty-Lammers update the Powerpoint   
  presentation that she created previously to present to the Borough Assembly and City 
  Council as an educational tool about the Commission. Hegarty-Lammers will draft a 
  timeline for review by the commission.  
 
  McLean will check with the former clerk for past changes suggested for the plan  
  update. 

 
E. Moose Creek Dam 
 
  Henszey reported to the Commission that there is a report that was done in 1997 by the 
  Corps of Engineers. He presented a summary of the report to the CRFC. Basically, this  
  report is a summary of everything that the Corps did for the Chena River Watershed up  
  until 1997. An electronic copy of the report is available on TVWA’s website. Henszey  
  further commented that this is a reconnaissance study to look at various problems and see 
  if they are valid enough to pursue further. There were eight different areas that the Corps 
  looked at and this report is a product of their work. Plager asked Henszey if he felt that  
  any of these eight areas that the Corps reported on are areas that the CRFC could be  
  involved in. Henszey replied that the Chena Slough/Badger Slough is an area that many 
  other agencies have been involved with. Hegarty-Lammers questioned if perhaps the  
  CRFC Plan should be supportive of the efforts of other agencies. Hegarty-Lammers  
  suggested that there be language in the plan update, if not already there, that supports the 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 40 of 74



Chena Riverfront Commission Minutes   -4-         July 10, 2013 

  goals of these other agencies. There was also mention of including an emphasis on  
  riparian threats in the plan update. Plager asked what the chances were of getting an  
  update on this report as it is outdated. Everett responded that because of a lack of funding 
  from  other agencies, including the Borough, she is unsure if the Corps would want to do 
  another study. Hegarty-Lammers asked Henszey if the fact that the data in the study is  
  old, does it affect any of the major issue statements. Henszey replied that most of them  
  remain issues. Hegarty-Lammers requested that a copy of the current Plan be e-mailed 
  to each member and indicate which parts of the plan are actually the adopted ordinance.  
 
F.  Letter of Commendation to TVWA and FSWAC 
   
   Plager commented that as Jones was not in attendance at the meeting, this item will be  
  postponed to the next meeting. 
 

8. STAFF AND LIAISON COMMENTS 
 
  Fox stated that the update on the Shoreway Park project has not changed since the 

 last meeting.  
 
  Everett mentioned that beginning next week TVWA is going to be floating the  Chena 

 River from the confluence of the Tanana River to the Moose Creek dam mapping the  
 riparian areas and will use the same criteria that was used in the report that Henszey 
 presented for comparison purposes and will also be looking for Elodea. They will be doing 
 this in conjunction with the Fairbanks Soil and Water District. Everett stated that the  
 project will be called the Chena River Riparian Area Habitat Map and Elodea Survey.  

  
9. COMMISSIONERS COMMENTS 
 
  Hegarty-Lammers questioned if she were to send an e-mail to Plager, could they be  
  forwarded to the clerk for distribution to Staff, Liaisons and Commissioners. Plager  
  stated that they could.  
 
  Plager commented that Wayne Jeffries will no longer be a member of the    
  Commission. He is being re-assigned out of state. The new person who will be   
  taking his place is Sgt. Major Perkins. Plager reiterated the idea that rather than take a  
  boat ride for the August meeting, the commission should take a field trip and view some of 
  the projects that have be completed in the downtown area along the river. There was  
  general agreement to this proposal for the next CRFC meeting.  
 
10. AGENDA SETTING FOR August 14, 2013 COMMISSION MEETING 
 
 A.  Assignments were made for several members of the Commission and Liaisons to give 
  brief descriptions of the projects that they were associated with during the walking tour  
  during the standard meeting time next month.  

 Rehabilitation of the shoreline in front of Borough building: Jewelz Nutter, TVWA 

 Barnette Street bridge & pathway: Barry Hooper, DOT 

 Green Triangle design & historic plaques: Donna Gardino, FMATS 

 Shoreway Park design & parking lot runoff changes: Jackson Fox, City of Fairbanks 

 Golden Heart Plaza water access: Julie Jones, Festival Fairbanks 

 B.   Resolution regarding proposed shoreline rehabilitation project. 
 
11. ADJOURNMENT   
 
 A motion to adjourn was made by Hegarty-Lammers and was seconded by Wright. All were 

in favor. 
AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 41 of 74



Chena Riverfront Commission Minutes   -5-         July 10, 2013 

/l 

AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 42 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 43 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 44 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 45 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 46 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 47 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 48 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 49 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 50 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 51 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 52 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 53 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 54 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 55 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 56 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 57 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 58 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 59 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 60 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 61 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 62 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 63 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 64 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 65 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 66 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 67 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 68 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 69 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 70 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 71 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 72 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 73 of 74



AGENDA PACKET - September 23, 2013 74 of 74


	AGENDA - September 23, 2013
	MINUTES - July 8, 2013
	UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
	Ordinance No. 5925 

	NEW BUSINESS
	Ordinance No. 5926
	Ordinance No. 5927
	Ordinance No. 5928 
	Ordinance No. 5929

	COMMUNICATIONS TO COUNCIL
	Re-appointments to the Chena Riverfront Commission
	Chena Riverfront Commission Meeting Minutes - July 10, 2013
	Clay Street Cemetery Commission Meeting Minutes - January 25, 2011 to date 

	CITY CLERK REPORT 
	Approval of Election Judges for 2013 Municipal Election




